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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
 On July 8, 2015, Governor Andrew Cuomo signed Executive Order No. 147 (the 
“Executive Order”), appointing the Attorney General as a special prosecutor “to investigate, and 
if warranted, prosecute certain matters involving the death of an unarmed civilian . . . caused by 
a law enforcement officer.”  On Saturday, July 25, 2015, Raynette Turner (“Ms. Turner”) was 
arrested for two counts of petit larceny and taken to the Mount Vernon Police Department 
(“MVPD”).  Approximately 48 hours later, the MVPD found Ms. Turner deceased in a holding 
cell.  On August 3, 2015, Governor Cuomo issued Executive Order No. 147.1, which expressly 
conferred jurisdiction upon the Attorney General to investigate any potential unlawful acts or 
omissions relating to Ms. Turner’s death.   
 

Pursuant to Executive Orders No. 147 and 147.1, the Office of the Attorney General’s 
(“OAG”) investigation included, among other investigative steps: 

 
• Review of the Westchester County Medical Examiner’s Office’s (“Medical 

Examiner”) autopsy, microscopy, and toxicology records; 
 

• Review of video footage from several MVPD videos depicting virtually the entire 
duration of Ms. Turner’s confinement at the MVPD, including video footage from 
several different cameras monitoring the holding cells (“the Holding Cell 
Video”), the arrest processing area, the MVPD hallways, and the MVPD entrance 
or sally port (sometimes collectively referred to as “the Video”);   
 

• Interviews of more than 40 witnesses including, among others, employees of the 
MVPD, court personnel, family and acquaintances of Ms. Turner, and arrestees 
who were in the custody of the MVPD at the same time as Ms. Turner; and 
 

• Review of more than 1,700 pages of Ms. Turner’s medical records before and 
during her confinement at the MVPD. 

 
The OAG finds that MVPD employees did not cause Ms. Turner’s death. The Medical 

Examiner’s records and the Video are the most salient evidence.  The Medical Examiner found 
no physical trauma suggesting any form of physical abuse by the MVPD.  There is no indication 
of any physical abuse on the Video, and none of the witnesses interviewed raised any suggestion 
of physical abuse.  The Medical Examiner found that Ms. Turner’s death was caused by an 
enlarged heart, and that chronic cocaine and morphine use contributed to her death.  Ms. 
Turner’s medical records prior to her arrest include records indicating drug use and chronic 
cardiac issues that corroborate the Medical Examiner’s findings.    

 
Under these circumstances, the only conceivable theory for a homicide prosecution 

would be that MVPD employees failed to provide necessary medical care to Ms. Turner and that 
this failure resulted in her death.  The only possible homicide charge would be criminally 
negligent homicide.  For the reasons discussed below, no such charge is warranted in this case. 
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The Video shows that MVPD officers checked on Ms. Turner through periodic, in-person 
visits.  Interviews of MVPD employees indicate that they also checked on her via a closed-circuit 
video monitor.  While in custody, Ms. Turner made one request for medical attention – regarding 
her prescription medications – and MVPD employees promptly took her to a nearby hospital 
where she received medication.  Ms. Turner was arrested on a Saturday.  The hospital visit was 
Sunday evening.  After the hospital visit, on late Sunday and Monday, the Video shows that Ms. 
Turner appeared to vomit or retch on many occasions.  MVPD employees continued to check on 
her periodically.  For example, from 11:45 am to 2:11 pm, MVPD employees were present at or 
near her cell approximately 10 times; during six of these visits the employees either interacted 
with Ms. Turner directly or looked into her cell.  On Monday, MVPD employees also inquired 
about Ms. Turner’s medical condition twice, and, in response, Ms. Turner did not request 
additional medical attention.  Finally, when an MVPD employee discovered that Ms. Turner was 
nonresponsive, emergency medical services (“EMS”) was contacted immediately.   

 
The standard necessary to sustain a charge of criminally negligent homicide is that a 

defendant failed to perceive a substantial and unjustifiable risk that a death would occur and that 
the failure to perceive that risk constituted a gross deviation from reasonable care.  The OAG 
finds no basis to conclude that any MVPD employee failed to perceive a substantial and 
unjustifiable risk that Ms. Turner’s death would occur or that any such failure to perceive that 
risk constituted a gross deviation from reasonable care.  

 
As described in detail below, however, state regulations required in-person cell visits of 

Ms. Turner at least every thirty minutes.  The general practice at the MVPD at the time of Ms. 
Turner’s incarceration was to conduct cell visits by closed-circuit television and not by in-person 
visits.  MVPD employees readily acknowledged this practice during the OAG investigation.  We 
raised this issue with the MVPD, and the MVPD has advised us that they are now ensuring that 
MVPD employees perform the required cell visits in person.  While the failure to follow state 
minimum standards required remediation by the MVPD, we do not believe that the MVPD’s 
practice caused its employees to fail to perceive a substantial and unjustifiable risk that Ms. 
Turner’s death would occur.  The Holding Cell Video provides a direct view of the cells that Ms. 
Turner was in, and the use of the Holding Cell Video was supplemented by periodic, in-person 
visits.  

 
*              *             * 

 
The following report details the OAG’s investigation and legal analysis.  We also attach 

several exhibits to the report, including: (1) still photos from the Video (Exhibit A); (2) the 
Medical Examiner’s autopsy report (Exhibit B); and (3) copies of various MVPD policies and 
procedures (Exhibits C).   
 
 Executive Orders No. 147 and 147.1 also provide that the OAG may offer “any 
recommendations for systemic reform arising from the investigation.”  The OAG’s 
recommendations cover two general issues.  First, we recommend that policymakers address the 
need to more swiftly bring arrestees before arraignment judges for consideration of bail and 
possible release.  Second, we recommend actions relating to detainee medical care, including that 
the New York State Commission of Correction (“COC”) review its minimum health care 
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standards and provide more precise guidance regarding the circumstances under which agencies 
should seek medical attention for inmates.  Law enforcement personnel are not physicians and 
would benefit from clear standards regarding when to arrange for emergency medical care for 
arrestees. 
 

 STATEMENT OF FACTS1 
 
A.   Ms. Turner’s Arrest and Detention by the MVPD 
  

1. Ms. Turner’s Arrest 
 
The MVPD arrested Ms. Turner on the afternoon of Saturday, July 25, 2015 for thefts at 

Restaurant Depot and Target.  Both thefts are captured on store surveillance footage.  The 
Restaurant Depot footage depicts a woman later identified to be Ms. Turner entering the store 
around 12:25 pm and leaving the store two minutes later, bypassing the cash registers, and 
entering the parking lot with a box of crab legs under her left arm.  Restaurant Depot personnel 
did not apprehend Ms. Turner.  Around 12:30 pm, a manager at Restaurant Depot called 911 to 
report the theft.   
 

The Target surveillance footage shows that, at approximately 1:00 pm, Ms. Turner placed 
two boxes of headphones into her bag and walked toward the entrance/exit doors where she was 
stopped by security personnel.  After being escorted to the Target Booking Room, Ms. Turner 
signed an Admission Statement acknowledging that she had stolen electronics and accessories 
worth more than $600.  One of the MVPD officers who responded recognized Ms. Turner from 
the prior Restaurant Depot surveillance video.  The officer called the Restaurant Depot manager 
who had called 911.  The Restaurant Depot manager identified Ms. Turner as the person who had 
stolen property from the Restaurant Depot approximately 90 minutes earlier. 

 
The OAG neither received nor uncovered any allegation, indication, or evidence of 

wrongdoing by the MVPD officers in carrying out the arrest.  
 

2. Arrival at the MVPD and the MVPD Intake Process 
 
Ms. Turner arrived at the MVPD at approximately 2:40 pm on July 25, 2015.  (Exhibit A 

at 1).  MVPD employees placed her in the booking area and called her husband, Herman Turner, 
to notify him of the arrest.   

 
MVPD Procedure No. 3.067 (Prisoner Suicide Prevention Screening) requires that a New 

York State-certified MVPD Desk Officer screen each arrestee to identify and reduce the risk of 
suicide.  (Exhibit C at 8).  After the arrestee is screened, he or she is placed into one of three 
levels of supervision: constant, active, or normal.  Pursuant to Procedure No. 3.067, constant 
supervision requires “uninterrupted personal visual observation of prisoners” 24 hours per day.  
(Exhibit C at 8).  An arrestee is placed on constant supervision when he or she is believed to be a 
suicide risk.  Active supervision requires “immediate availability to prisoners” and that 

1 None of the information referenced in this report was obtained through the use of grand jury subpoenas.  Any 
subpoenas issued were pursuant to New York State Executive Law Section 63(8).   
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“supervisory visits [are] conducted at a minimum of fifteen (15) minute intervals.”  (Exhibit C at 
8).  The MVPD member must be able to “communicate orally with prisoner[s] and respond [to 
their inquiries].”  (Exhibit C at 9).  Normal supervision requires that the “condition” of a detainee 
be checked “by actual visits to cells at intervals not to exceed thirty (30) minutes.”  (Exhibits C 
at 9). 2  

  
The on-duty Desk Officer, Sergeant Vincent Stufano, interviewed Ms. Turner and 

completed her “Suicide Prevention Screening Guidelines” form.  During the screening process, 
an empty bottle of a benzodiazepine (which is used to treat panic disorders) was vouchered.  Ms. 
Turner spoke about prior mental-health diagnoses and told Sgt. Stufano that she needed 
medications that she had been prescribed relating to these diagnoses.  She made no complaints 
regarding her general health or physical condition.  Ms. Turner also denied using or being under 
the influence of non-prescription drugs.  Based upon Ms. Turner’s final score on the screening 
questions and Sgt. Stefano’s overall assessment of her, he placed her on “active supervision” 
requiring supervisory visits every 15 minutes.   
  

In addition to implementing the “Suicide Prevention Screening Guidelines,” the Desk 
Officer is responsible for supervising the detainee’s arrest processing.  This includes determining 
whether the arrestee has any outstanding warrants and deciding whether “booking” or arrest is 
appropriate.  Pursuant to MVPD procedure, when court is not in session, a Desk Officer also is 
authorized to set pre-arraignment bail and issue a Desk Appearance Ticket (“DAT”), which 
releases the arrestee from police custody and directs the arrestee to appear in court on a specific 
date and time.  (Exhibit C at 4 - 5).3  MVPD officers told us that, pursuant to MVPD procedure, 
before they issue a DAT, an arrestee must be fingerprinted and his or her record must be checked 
for outstanding warrants.4  The Desk Officer may also consider the underlying facts of the case 
as well as the arrestee’s criminal and bench warrant history. 

   
Based upon our interviews with the MVPD desk officers, Ms. Turner was not considered 

for the issuance of a DAT.  In addition, Ms. Turner was not fingerprinted at the time of her 
arrest.  Therefore, while some warrant information and criminal history were available to Sgt. 

2 MVPD Procedure No. 3.067 is consistent with the New York State Minimum Standards and Regulations for 
Management of City Jail – Town and Village Lockups (“State Minimum Standards”), which require that “the 
condition of prisoners shall be checked, by actual visits to cells and detention rooms, at intervals not to exceed 30 
minutes.”  9 NYCRR § 7504.1(a) (emphasis added).  Notwithstanding MVPD Procedure No. 3.067 and the State 
Minimum Standards, the MVPD procedure defining detention protocols (Mount Vernon Police Department 
Detention and Transportation Procedures – TC-1 2006 – 02/27/06) simply requires that employees “note prisoner 
activity” every 15 or 30 minutes, without specifying that observations of prisoner activity must be based upon actual 
visits.  (Exhibit C at 2).  As noted above, MVPD employees informed the OAG that they did their supervision visits 
by observing prisoners via closed-circuit television.  While the use of closed-circuit television to monitor detainees 
is an appropriate adjunct to actual cell visits, it may not be used “as a substitute for such visits.”  9 NYCRR              
§ 7504.1(g). 
 
3 MVPD Procedure No. 3.050 provides that (a) the Desk Officer shall “promptly” have fingerprinted any person 
eligible for a DAT and (b) no DAT “shall be issued until the prisoner has been fingerprinted and a record check for 
outstanding warrants has been completed.”  (Exhibit C at 5). 
 
4At the MVPD, arrestees can only be fingerprinted by individuals assigned to the Detective Bureau.  Monday 
through Friday, detectives assigned to the Criminal Investigations Unit (“CIU”) fingerprint all arrestees.  On 
weekends, arrestees are fingerprinted if and when a detective is available.   
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Stufano, the complete, comprehensive, multi-state information supplied after fingerprint 
submission was not.  MVPD officers indicated that, pursuant to MVPD practice, Ms. Turner 
would not have been actively considered for a DAT, because she had been arrested for two 
unrelated offenses in one day and the dollar value of the goods stolen exceeded $600.  When Ms. 
Turner was ultimately fingerprinted, it was determined that she had a bench warrant history, 
aliases, a probation revocation, and multiple convictions, which MVPD employees advised us 
would have caused them not to issue a DAT.   

 
3. Relocation to the Cell Block 
 

 Pursuant to MVPD Policy Article XIX, prisoner attendants are generally responsible for 
the “care and safekeeping” of detainees, serving meals and, if necessary, rendering first aid. 
(Exhibit C at 3).  There are three prisoner attendant posts at the MVPD; attendants may be 
assigned to the first floor holding cells (“cell block”), the second floor holding cells, or as the 
“runner” who escorts arrestees between the cell block and the second floor holding cells.  Both 
law enforcement officers and civilian employees perform prisoner attendant functions.  

 
At approximately 3:00 pm, Ms. Turner was escorted from the booking area to the cell 

block by Prisoner Attendant Carlo Jean-Baptiste and placed into cell number 31.  (Exhibit A at 
2).  

 
Police Officer Bahiyah Morris was the attendant for the cell block from 4:00 pm to 

midnight.  At approximately 5:15 pm, Officer Morris served Ms. Turner dinner.  According to 
the Video, after eating dinner, Ms. Turner spent several hours lying down on a bench in her cell.  
During that period, she can also be seen intermittently standing, walking to the cell door, and 
sitting on the bench in the cell.  Occasionally, while seated, Ms. Turner can be seen bending 
forward or doubling over.  This was a somewhat infrequent occurrence on the first day that Ms. 
Turner was detained, but it happened with greater frequency on the second and third days that 
she was detained. 
 

4. The Morning and Afternoon of Sunday, July 26, 2015  
 

According to the Video, from approximately midnight until 5:00 am, Ms. Turner was 
asleep, lying on the cell bench and turning occasionally.  At approximately 6:25 am, she sat up 
on the bench.  She can also be seen rocking back and forth at that time.  Prisoner Attendant Jean-
Baptiste worked the 8:00 am to 4:00 pm shift and provided Ms. Turner a sandwich and a drink 
for breakfast shortly after 8:00 am. Until about 4:00 pm, Ms. Turner was primarily lying down, 
but occasionally can be seen standing, eating, and doubling over while seated on the cell bench. 

 
Police Officer Ryan Hughes was assigned as an attendant from 4:00 pm to midnight.  At 

approximately 4:05 pm, Ms. Turner asked him if she could call her husband.  (Exhibit A at 3).  
Officer Hughes told her that she was not permitted to make a telephone call at that time, but as a 
courtesy, he offered to call her husband on her behalf.  Ms. Turner provided Officer Hughes with 
the telephone number, and at approximately 4:15 pm Officer Hughes called her husband, 
Herman Turner, to let him know that Ms. Turner was scheduled to have a court appearance on 
Monday.  

5 
 



 

5. Montefiore Mount Vernon Hospital Visit on Sunday Evening 
 
 At approximately 4:40 pm, Ms. Turner told Officer Hughes that she had not had her 
hypertension medication in a few days, and she asked to go to the hospital to obtain that 
medication.  Shortly thereafter, Officer Hughes called the front desk and reported that Ms. 
Turner needed her medication.  At approximately 5:45 pm, Police Officer Michael Paulson and 
Probationary Police Officer (“PPO”) Nazeem Whipper escorted Ms. Turner from her cell to a 
police car for transport to Montefiore Mount Vernon Hospital (“MMVH”), which is 
approximately a tenth of a mile from the MVPD.  (Exhibit A at 4).  The Video shows that Ms. 
Turner walked without assistance to the transporting police car with Officer Paulson and PPO 
Whipper. 
 

They arrived at MMVH shortly thereafter and remained at the hospital until 
approximately 10:00 pm.  According to the medical records, upon arrival Ms. Turner’s chief 
complaint was “needs meds.”  The medical records also state that Ms. Turner had 
“pain/discomfort” on the left side of her body, and the pain was rated a “7” on a scale of 0 to 10 
(with 10 being the highest level of pain).  During her triage interview, Ms. Turner reported that 
she was at the hospital “for medication that she ha[d] not had from yesterday.”  Ms. Turner was 
subsequently taken to an examining room where, according to Officer Paulson and PPO 
Whipper, she indicated that she was hungry and was provided with food and a beverage. 
 

At the hospital, Ms. Turner met with nurses, a general physician, and a psychiatrist.  The 
triage notes indicate: “revisit/miscellaneous medication refill . . . patient is in police custody 
needs to be medicated.”  The hospital records indicate that she was currently being prescribed 
drugs to treat hypertension, anxiety, and insomnia.  She denied the use of alcohol or non-
prescription drugs.  Ms. Turner was designated as triage category “4” on a scale of 1-5 (1 is the 
highest urgency level).5  MMVH staff provided bridge medications6 to Ms. Turner consistent 
with those she had been receiving prior to her arrest, including blood pressure, anxiety, and 
insomnia medications.  In short, the drugs Ms. Turner received at MMVH were the same as 
those that she was already being prescribed or generic preparations thereof.  At approximately 
10:00 pm, Ms. Turner was discharged from MMVH.  The hospital records state that her 
condition was “stable.”  Ms. Turner was provided with patient information on hypertension and 
instructions to follow up with her primary care physician and psychiatrist upon her release from 
custody.  MMVH did not give any specific instructions or warnings to the MVPD concerning 
Ms. Turner’s continued care.  
 

Officer Paulson, PPO Whipper, and Ms. Turner returned to the MVPD at approximately 
10:00 pm.  (Exhibit A at 5).  Prisoner Attendant Brian Burrell was on duty at the time; he placed 
Ms. Turner in cell number 29, because her original cell (number 31) was being cleaned.  Prisoner 
Attendant Burrell then gave Ms. Turner a sandwich and a drink.  After eating, Ms. Turner lay 

5 See generally http://www.ahrq.gov/sites/default/files/wysiwyg/professionals/systems/hospital/esi/esihandbk.pdf. 
 
6 “Bridge medication” refers to a quantity of medication provided to an individual who would otherwise not have 
access to his or her prescription(s), in order to carry that person to a time when regular access can resume. 
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down on the bench in her cell.  Between approximately 11:15 pm and midnight, Ms. Turner 
appears to vomit or retch five to six times.7 
 

6. Fingerprinting Early Monday Morning 
 

The Video shows that Police Officer Ian Yearwood and Detective Juliet Roach, members 
of the MVPD Detective Division, escorted Ms. Turner from cell number 29 to the MVPD 
fingerprinting machine at approximately 2:15 am.  (Exhibit A at 6).  Ms. Turner returned to her 
cell at approximately 2:30 am.  (Exhibit A at 7).  According to the Video, she appears generally 
to sleep during the rest of the night, but her sleep was interrupted at various times when she can 
be seen awakening, leaning over the toilet, and vomiting or retching.    
 

7. Monday Morning 
 
 Prisoner Attendant Burrell was assigned to the cell block during the 8:00 am to 4:00 pm 
shift.  The Video indicates that between approximately 8:00 am and 8:20 am, Ms. Turner leaned 
over the toilet and vomited or retched several times.  During that time period, Ms. Turner is 
handed toilet paper, and a cup is left in the opening of her cell.  (Exhibit A at 8).   
 

At 9:00 am, Prisoner Attendant Burrell began his assignment as a “runner,” taking 
arrestees back and forth between the first floor cell block (where Ms. Turner was) and the 
holding cells located on the second floor.  At approximately the same time, Prisoner Attendant 
Ricardo Atkinson began his 9:00 am to 5:00 pm shift and was assigned to the first floor cell 
block.  Prisoner Attendant Atkinson is a civilian MVPD employee and not a police officer. 
 

 According to the Video, at approximately 9:35 am, Prisoner Attendant Michael Barnes 
escorted Ms. Turner from cell number 29 to an interview room where she was interviewed by 
Ms. Lillian Mizell Harris, Program Assistant for Pre-Trial Services Institute of Westchester 
County (“PTSI”).  (Exhibit A at 9).  PTSI is responsible for making recommendations to the 
court about whether arrestees should be released at arraignment.  According to Harris, during the 
PTSI interview, Ms. Turner rubbed her stomach and said that she did not feel well.  Ms. Turner 
did not request medical assistance, and Harris did not feel that Ms. Turner’s words or actions 
were cause for concern.8  Upon completion of the interview, Ms. Turner stood and walked 
unassisted out of the interview room.  After the PTSI interview, the Video shows that Prisoner 
Attendant Atkinson escorted Ms. Turner back to cell number 29.  (Exhibit A at 10). 
 

7 The Video does not clearly show whether Ms. Turner vomited at any particular point.  This report refers to 
vomiting or retching in instances where it appears that she vomited or retched based upon her posture while leaning 
over the toilet. 
 
8 Prior to the OAG’s interview of Ms. Harris on August 13, 2015, Ms. Harris told the press that Ms. Turner did not 
seem to Ms. Harris to have been seriously ill.  See http://www.lohud.com/story/news/local/westchester/mount-
vernon/2015/07/30/raynette-turner-screener-speaks/30903989/. 
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8.   Ms. Turner’s Return from a Court Holding Cell Due to Illness 
 

According to the Video, at approximately 9:49 am, Prisoner Attendant Atkinson led Ms. 
Turner and three other female arrestees from the first floor cell block to the elevator.  (Exhibit A 
at 11).  Prisoner Attendant Burrell escorted them onto the elevator and up to the court holding 
cells on the second floor. 

 
According to the court holding cell Video,9 the female detainees, including Ms. Turner, 

were escorted into the female court holding cell.  Ms. Turner entered the cell, stood near the 
wall, and appeared to speak with Prisoner Attendant Burrell.  According to him, Ms. Turner 
asked if she could go back downstairs to her cell, because she did not feel well and wanted to lie 
down.  This conversation was substantiated by one of the female arrestees in the court holding 
cell.  The Video shows that Prisoner Attendant Burrell escorted Ms. Turner out of the court 
holding cell approximately one minute after she entered.  

 
Prisoner Attendant Burrell then walked Ms. Turner to the first floor, where they met 

Prisoner Attendant Atkinson.  According to Prisoner Attendant Burrell, during this time he asked 
Ms. Turner how she was feeling and she replied “a little better.”  According to the Video, at 
approximately 9:52 am (three minutes after she had been escorted out of cell number 29).  
Prisoner Attendant Atkinson escorted Ms. Turner to cell number 23.  (Exhibit A at 12).  Ms. 
Turner walked unassisted to and from the court holding cell.  According to Prisoner Attendant 
Atkinson, he asked Ms. Turner if she was okay and she replied, “Yes, I just want to lie down.”10     

 
The Video next shows that, between approximately 9:52 am and 10:37 am, Ms. Turner 

leaned over the toilet six times.  At least twice during that time she appeared to place her fingers 
in her mouth and vomit or retch.  At approximately 10:55 am, Prisoner Attendant Atkinson left 
food and a drink for Ms. Turner in the opening of the door of cell number 23 (Exhibit A at 13).   
 

9 There is a time difference of approximately ten minutes between the video recordings from the jail cells on the 
first floor and the video recordings from the court holding cells on the second floor.  According to Strategem 
Security (the company that installed the video surveillance cameras at the MVPD), various cameras throughout the 
MVPD are connected to one of several servers, and all cameras on a given server are time-stamped to that server’s 
internal clock.  Each server is reliant on its own internal clock due to the unavailability of a Network Time Protocol 
(“NTP”) server on the MVPD network to sync all of the servers’ internal clocks.  Accordingly, while every MVPD 
camera server clock is internally consistent (i.e., there is a sequential passage of time), the camera server clocks may 
differ from one another by several minutes where the cameras are not connected to the same server. Further, 
Strategem indicated that the camera servers utilize a video cache when there is no motion detected, holding the 
video until the camera detects motion again. 
 
10 Even if Ms. Turner had remained upstairs and eventually appeared in the courtroom for arraignment, there was no 
accusatory instrument upon which to arraign her.  The practice at the MVPD is that if an arrest is made between 
8:30 am Saturday and the end of the weekend, the arresting officer needs to appear at the Westchester County 
District Attorney’s office on the following Monday morning so that an Assistant District Attorney can draft the 
accusatory instrument.  The arresting officer, PPO Elias Reyes, was due to appear at the District Attorney’s office at 
9:00 am that morning so that accusatory instruments could be prepared and filed.  However, at approximately 8:05 
am, shortly after beginning his shift, PPO Reyes was dispatched to another matter and therefore did not appear at the 
District Attorney’s office. 
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At approximately 11:01 am, Prisoner Attendant Atkinson and a maintenance worker 
walked through the cell hallway and passed by cell number 23.  At that time, Ms. Turner was 
lying down.  From approximately 11:01 am to approximately 11:44 am, Ms. Turner continued to 
lie down.  At approximately 11:44 am, Police Officer Tiffany Sexton walked down the cell 
hallway; Ms. Turner lifted her head from the bench as she passed and then sat up and got toilet 
paper (11:44 am), leaned over while sitting on the bench (11:44 am), leaned over the toilet 
(11:45 am), and used toilet paper to wipe her mouth (11:47 am).  (Exhibit A at 14).  Between 
approximately 11:50 am and 12:15 pm, Ms. Turner sat on the bench with little movement.  From 
approximately 12:15 pm to 12:26 pm, Ms. Turner again lay down on the bench. 

 
9.   The Two and a Half Hours Prior to Ms. Turner’s Death 
 
At approximately 12:26 pm, Prisoner Attendant Atkinson escorted Ms. Turner back to 

cell number 29.  (Exhibit A at 15).  Ms. Turner walked unaided to the cell.  Shortly after entering 
cell 29, Ms. Turner appeared to double over while sitting on the cell bench.  Between 
approximately 12:28 pm and 1:21 pm, the Video shows Ms. Turner leaning over the toilet and, at 
times, placing her fingers in her mouth.  She appears to retch or vomit several times.11  In 
between, she lay on the cell bench.  She did not, according to every MVPD employee on duty at 
the time, request medical assistance.12  Similarly, no inmate interviewed by the OAG said that 
Ms. Turner requested medical attention on Monday or that MVPD employees ignored any 
request.  

 
At approximately 12:58 pm, Officer Sexton pointed out to Ms. Turner that there was food 

and drink in the opening of the door to cell number 29.  (Exhibit A at 16).  At approximately 
12:59 pm, Prisoner Attendant Atkinson escorted a female prisoner through the cell hallway and 
looked briefly into Ms. Turner’s cell.  At approximately 1:10 pm, Prisoner Attendant Barnes 
handed Ms. Turner toilet paper.  (Exhibit A at 17).  At approximately 1:11 pm, Ms. Turner 
leaned over the toilet and appeared to vomit or retch.  Around that time, Prisoner Attendant 
Atkinson escorted a female prisoner through the cell hallway and walked by cell number 29. 
(Exhibit A at 18).  At approximately 1:21 pm, Ms. Turner took a cup from the opening of the 
door to cell number 29, took a sip, and put the cup back.  (Exhibit A at 19). 

 
At 1:25 pm, Ms. Turner lay down on the cell bench for the last time and did not get up 

again.  At approximately 1:41 pm, Prisoner Attendant Barnes walked into the room next door to 
cell number 29 and walked out.  At approximately 1:51 pm, Prisoner Attendant Burrell walked 

11 Repeated vomiting is symptomatic of many non-fatal conditions, but it can also be evidence of a serious medical 
problem.  As discussed below, the OAG recommends that the N.Y.S. Commission of Correction, in conjunction 
with the Medical Review Board (“MRB”), determine if more specific guidance should be provided to law 
enforcement officers to better address when emergency medical care should be provided to arrestees.  
 
12 Arrestees need not affirmatively request medical care in order to receive it.  For example, there are instances in 
which mental illness or physical incapacitation would prevent an individual from requesting care or recognizing that 
it is needed.  As discussed below in the Legal Analysis section, however, the MVPD’s prompt response to Ms. 
Turner’s prior request to be taken to the hospital and Ms. Turner’s responses to the MVPD’s inquiries about her 
health during the hours prior to her death are relevant to the key legal issue: whether any MVPD employee’s failure 
to perceive a substantial and unjustifiable risk of Ms. Turner’s death was a gross deviation from reasonable care, as 
required for a charge of criminally negligent homicide.  
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into the room next to cell number 29 and then walked out.  At approximately 2:10 pm, Prisoner 
Attendant Burrell walked by cell number 29, looked briefly into the cell, walked by the cell again 
while escorting a female prisoner through the cell hallway, and again looked briefly into the cell.  
(Exhibit A at 20).  At approximately 2:13 pm, Ms. Turner moved slightly while lying on the cell 
bench, partially on her right side and partially on her stomach.  According to the Video, Ms. 
Turner did not move again after 2:13 pm. 

 
At approximately 2:50 pm, the Video shows that Prisoner Attendant Atkinson 

approached Ms. Turner’s cell.  (Exhibit A at 21).  Atkinson told us that he was attempting to 
inform Ms. Turner that she was going to be taken up to the court holding cell for arraignment.  
When Ms. Turner did not respond, Prisoner Attendant Atkinson reached through the cell bars 
and shook Ms. Turner, but she remained motionless.  At that point, he opened the cell door and 
attempted to awaken her.   

 
At approximately 2:51 pm, Officer Sexton went to cell number 29 and performed a 

sternum rub (a technique used to awaken an unconscious individual) on Ms. Turner; it failed to 
rouse her.  (Exhibit A at 22).  At approximately 2:51 pm, Prisoner Attendant Atkinson notified 
the front desk and requested an ambulance, which was summoned.  At approximately 2:54 pm, 
Sergeant Gregory Addison responded to Ms. Turner’s cell with a defibrillator, which was not 
ultimately used, since Sgt. Addison noted lividity (a pooling of blood that can be a visible sign of 
death).  (Exhibit A at 23).  At approximately 3:04 pm, a TransCare Emergency Medical 
Technician arrived at cell number 29.  (Exhibit A at 24).  At 3:08 pm, the technician pronounced 
Ms. Turner deceased.    

 
B.   Jail Forms 

 
An MVPD “Jail Form” is maintained for each detainee, upon which prisoner attendants 

must make a record of each supervisory visit they performed including the date, the time, and 
their observations of the arrestee during the visit, such as whether he or she was awake, sleeping, 
or eating.  The Jail Forms memorialize the official supervisory visits.  As discussed above, 
MVPD employees primarily performed supervisory visits by closed-circuit television rather than 
actual visits to jail cells.  While we primarily relied on the Video for our assessment of Ms. 
Turner’s conduct and condition, we also compared the descriptions contained on the Jail Form to 
what we observed on the Video.  For several entries, there are inconsistencies between the Video 
and the descriptions of Ms. Turner’s conduct on the log (e.g., the log states “laying down” when 
the Video shows that she was sitting).  (Some of these inconsistencies may be due to individual 
employees using different watches or clocks to note the times).  The Video also shows that 
MVPD employees performed periodic, in-person visits that were not necessarily reflected on the 
Jail Form.     

 
Prisoner Attendant Atkinson was responsible for maintaining and updating Ms. Turner’s 

Jail Form (as well as those of 28 other inmates in the cell block) in the hours immediately 
preceding her death.  As noted previously, Prisoner Attendant Atkinson is a civilian employee of 
the MVPD.  Several entries by Prisoner Attendant Atkinson on Monday morning/afternoon did 
not correspond to the Video.  For example, the Jail Form notes that Ms. Turner’s lunch was 
served at 11:30 am, but according to the Video, lunch or another meal was actually served at 
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10:55 am.  Similarly, the Jail Form indicates that Ms. Turner was moved to cell number 29 at 
11:45 am; according to the Video, she was actually moved at 12:26 pm.  In addition to these 
inaccuracies, Prisoner Attendant Atkinson subsequently changed the times of several entries on 
Monday, July 27, 2015.  From 10:00 am to 12:00 pm and from 2:00 pm to 3:00 pm, the Jail 
Form indicates that Prisoner Attendant Atkinson made entries on Ms. Turner’s Jail Form every 
fifteen minutes, as he was required to do, since she was on active supervision.  But, from 12:00 
pm to 2:00 pm, he originally made entries every 30 minutes.   

 
According to Prisoner Attendant Atkinson, after he discovered that Ms. Turner was 

unresponsive and called EMS, he changed the time entries (between 12:00 pm and 2:00 pm) to 
reflect that he had in fact been checking on Ms. Turner by video and in person every fifteen 
minutes.  Prisoner Attendant Atkinson made the time changes in a readily visible and apparent 
manner: by writing on top of the prior entries (and thereby creating somewhat illegible, visibly 
altered time entries).  He did not make any changes to the fields describing his observations 
about Ms. Turner; as a result, several of the description fields are at odds with the Video.    

 
We were not able to verify whether Atkinson conducted visits every fifteen minutes 

between noon and 2:00 pm as he maintained.  As discussed above, the practice at the MVPD is 
to conduct many of these visits by video and not in person, and there is no camera recording the 
room in which the attendants monitor the video screens of the cells.  The Video reflects that 
Prisoner Attendant Atkinson himself walked by, checked, or interacted with Ms. Turner 
approximately six times between 11:00 am and 3:00 pm.  But, even if Prisoner Attendant 
Atkinson did perform fifteen-minute check-ins by video, by his own account, he failed to record 
accurately what he observed during those check-ins.  In addition, he failed to record accurately 
when Ms. Turner was provided with lunch and when she moved cells.  Accuracy of the Jail 
Forms is important for the effective functioning of the MVPD.  The OAG recommended to the 
MVPD that it take administrative action relating to Prisoner Attendant Atkinson and the OAG 
has been advised that the MVPD intends to do so.  The MVPD’s administrative action can range 
from a reprimand to termination.   

 
C.  Summary of Medical Examiner and Prior Medical Treatment Records 
 

1. Westchester County Medical Examiner 
 

At approximately 3:11 pm on Monday, July 27, Officer Allen notified the Medical 
Examiner of Ms. Turner’s death and at approximately 4:30 pm, representatives of the Medical 
Examiner responded to the MVPD.  At approximately 5:00 pm, they removed Ms. Turner’s body 
to the Medical Examiner’s facilities.   
 

On July 28, 2015, the Medical Examiner performed a comprehensive autopsy of Ms. 
Turner’s body.  (Exhibit B).  During the autopsy, the Medical Examiner physically examined the 
body, analyzed the bodily fluids, and performed a histologic examination of bodily tissues.  The 
Medical Examiner also reviewed some of Ms. Turner’s physical and mental health history, 
which included some general health issues as well as chronic drug use (both prescription and 
non-prescription).  
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Ms. Turner’s heart was found to be enlarged; microscopic analysis of Ms. Turner’s 
cardiac muscle fibers disclosed that she suffered from “hypertrophic myofibers and foci of 
fibrosis” (an unusual thickening of her cardiac tissue).  The Medical Examiner determined that 
Ms. Turner’s manner of death was “natural” and her cause of death was “[c]ardiomegaly with 
myocardial fibrosis” (i.e., an enlarged heart with thickened, less compliant cardiac tissue) 
(Exhibit B at 9, 32).   

 
The Medical Examiner’s toxicology report revealed the presence of numerous 

prescription drugs as well as cocaine and morphine or their metabolites in Ms. Turner’s 
system.  Specifically, toxicological analysis revealed that Ms. Turner had consumed cocaine as 
well as morphine, but not in the hours immediately preceding her death.  Her overall 
toxicological profile indicated chronic cocaine and morphine use.  (Exhibit B at 13 - 14).  This 
finding was corroborated by statements of two of Ms. Turner’s acquaintances.13  Accordingly, 
the Medical Examiner’s conclusion that “chronic cocaine and morphine use” contributed to Ms. 
Turner’s death was independently corroborated by evidence of actual use. 

 
As discussed below, Ms. Turner’s blood and urine also contained substances (or their 

metabolites) that, through various medical records, the OAG was able to link to prescription 
drugs that Ms. Turner received prior to her arrest or at MMVH the night before her death.  

 
2. Prior Medical Treatment Records  
 
During the course of the investigation, we obtained and reviewed multiple sets of medical 

records from various health care providers (in addition to the MMVH records) consisting of 
more than 1,700 pages.  The relevant material is discussed below.   

 
The Medical Examiner’s toxicology report was corroborated by the medical records we 

obtained from a mental-health services provider where Ms. Turner was seen as a regular patient 
until two days prior to her arrest.  Many of the substances identified in the Medical Examiner’s 
toxicology screen had been prescribed to Ms. Turner at that facility, a fact disclosed in the 
provider’s medical records.  Further, approximately three months prior to her death, Ms. Turner 
was asked by the provider about a urine screen that tested positive for cocaine use; Ms. Turner 
claimed that the results were invalid.    

 
Finally, from 2000 to 2013, Ms. Turner was screened for cardiac abnormalities; the 

medical records from several entities foreshadow the cardiac issues to which, according to the 
Medical Examiner’s report, she ultimately succumbed.  Various hospital records reveal that as 
early as 2000, Ms. Turner showed evidence of “borderline cardiomegaly”; in 2012 and 2013, she 
displayed evidence of an enlarged heart; and in July 2013, Ms. Turner reported experiencing 
“chest pain.”  Over the years, Ms. Turner was also treated for hypertension, back and leg pain, 
swollen legs, shortness of breath, and abdominal pain.  

 
At the time of her incarceration, the MVPD did not possess the medical records the OAG 

obtained after Ms. Turner’s death.  Additionally, during her screening process, Ms. Turner 

13 The MVPD informed the OAG that Herman Turner provided the names of these two individuals.  The OAG 
subsequently interviewed these two individuals. 
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specifically denied the drug use that, according to the Medical Examiner, contributed to her 
death.  
 

LEGAL ANALYSIS 
 

The autopsy report found, in sum, that Ms. Turner’s manner of death was “natural” due to 
an enlarged heart resulting partially from drug use.  Based upon the Video, the autopsy report, 
and interviews of MVPD officers and other arrestees, there is no evidence of any use of force by 
MVPD officers against Ms. Turner.  Under these circumstances, the only possible theory of 
homicide prosecution is that an MVPD employee was criminally negligent in failing to provide 
Ms. Turner with necessary medical care and that such criminal negligence resulted in her death.  
For the reasons discussed below, such a prosecution could not properly be sustained under the 
facts presented here. 

 
A person is guilty of criminally negligent homicide under Penal Law Section 125.10 

“when, with criminal negligence, he causes the death of another person.”  There are two theories 
of criminally negligent homicide: (1) a person engages in conduct that creates a risk; and (2) a 
person who owes a legally imposed duty to someone else fails to perform an act that he/she is 
legally required to perform.  People v. Munck, 92 A.D.3d 63 (3d Dep’t 2011) (for a person to be 
guilty of criminally negligent homicide by omitting to perform an act, there must be a legally 
imposed duty to act, such as a parent’s duty to act for his or her child).  In either case, criminally 
negligent homicide occurs when a person “fails to perceive a substantial and unjustifiable risk” 
that death will occur.  New York Penal Law § 15.05 (defining criminal negligence).  
 

The substantial and unjustifiable risk “must be of such nature and degree that the failure 
to perceive it constitutes a gross deviation from the standard of care that a reasonable person 
would observe in the situation.”  New York Penal Law § 15.05; People v. Boutin, 75 N.Y.2d 
692, 696 (1990) (“The risk involved must have been ‘substantial and unjustifiable,’ and the 
failure to perceive that risk must have been a ‘gross deviation’ from reasonable care.”).  The 
Court of Appeals has made clear that careless, or even ordinary negligent behavior, is 
insufficient in and of itself to constitute criminal negligence.  See People v. Ricardo B., 73 
N.Y.2d 228, 235 (1989) (“[C]riminal liability cannot be predicated upon every careless act 
merely because its carelessness results in another's death.”).   

 
The degree of carelessness required for criminal negligence “is appreciably more serious 

than that for ordinary civil negligence and the carelessness must be such that its seriousness 
would be apparent to anyone who shares the community’s general sense of right and wrong.” 
People v. Haney, 30 N.Y.2d 328, 334 (1972) (“Criminally negligent homicide, in essence, 
involves the failure to perceive the risk in a situation where the offender has a legal duty of 
awareness.  It, thus, serves to provide an offense applicable to conduct which is obviously 
socially undesirable.  ‘[It proscribes] conduct which is inadvertent as to risk only because the 
actor is insensitive to the interests and claims of other persons in society.’”) (quoting Model 
Penal Code, Tent. Draft No. 9). 
 

The MVPD’s failure to perceive a substantial risk of Ms. Turner’s death based on 
observations of restlessness and vomiting or retching (symptomatic of many non-fatal 
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conditions) is far afield from the particularly egregious factual circumstances under which New 
York courts have affirmed convictions for criminally negligent homicide.  Cases finding 
criminally negligent homicide involve instances where affirmative harm was inflicted on the 
deceased or the medical condition and imminent death of the deceased were readily apparent, 
unlike here.  The following cases are illustrative. 

 
• People v. Flayhart, 72 N.Y.2d 737 (1988):  Husband and wife defendants were 

properly convicted of criminally negligent homicide in the death of the husband’s 
brother where: (a) the brother lived with them and was totally dependent upon 
their care; (b) the brother was mentally disabled and had cerebral palsy and 
epilepsy; (c) the brother weighed 75 pounds just before death and died of 
malnutrition and inflammation of the lungs; and (d) the brother had not seen his 
regular doctor during the last two years of his life.  The court held that the jury 
properly found that defendants failed to perceive a substantial risk of death and 
failed to provide food and medical care, which ultimately brought about the 
brother’s death.  
 

• People v. Henson, 33 N.Y.2d 63 (1973):  Defendants, parents of a four-year-old 
child who died of pneumonia, were properly convicted of criminally negligent 
homicide where: (a) they knew that the boy had been sick some days before his 
death; (b) the boy’s body was covered with many black and blue marks; (c) the 
defendants went to a bar the night of the child’s death; and (d) before doing so, 
they tied the boy up and told the babysitter to ignore any calls for help.  
 

• People v. Rose, 41 A.D.3d 1033 (3d Dep’t), app. denied, 9 N.Y.3d 926 (2007): 
The defendant mother was properly convicted after a guilty plea to criminally 
negligent homicide in the death of her three-year-old daughter where: (a) the 
defendant’s boyfriend inflicted the fatal injuries on the child while the defendant 
was at work; and (b) the defendant clearly did not act as a reasonable parent in 
failing to seek medical assistance for her unresponsive child for approximately ten 
hours.  
 

• People v. Baker, 4 A.D.3d 606 (3d Dep’t), lv denied, 2 N.Y.3d 795 (2004):  The 
court reduced the defendant babysitter’s conviction of murder in the second 
degree to criminally negligent homicide in the death of a three-year-old child 
under her care where: (a) the child died of hyperthermia as a result of her 
prolonged exposure to excessive heat caused by a short circuit in furnace wiring; 
and (b) the child was unable to leave her bedroom, where the temperature reached 
110 degrees and vent air reached 130 degrees.  The court held that the defendant 
should have perceived a substantial and unjustifiable risk that the excessive heat, 
in combination with her inaction, would likely lead to the child’s death.  
 

• People v. Manon, 226 A.D.2d 774 (3d Dep’t), app. denied, 88 N.Y.2d 1022 
(1996):  The defendant mother was properly convicted of criminally negligent 
homicide for the death of her newborn where: (a) the newborn died as a result of 
under-nutrition and dehydration; (b) the newborn’s deterioration would have been 
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readily apparent a day or two prior to his death; (c) the defendant missed a 
scheduled medical appointment for the newborn two days prior to his death;       
(d) the newborn had lost 27% of his body weight since his last medical 
appointment 15 days prior to his death; (e) the defendant left the newborn 
propped up on the couch to feed himself despite medical advice not to do so; 
(f) the defendant refused assistance from a nurse; (g) there was trauma to the 
newborn’s arms and ribs; and (h) the newborn died in a “filthy bassinet” in a 
home with an “intense odor.”  
 

• People v. Neer, 129 A.D.2d 829 (3d Dep’t), app. denied, 70 N.Y.2d 802 (1987): 
The defendant father was properly convicted of criminally negligent homicide for 
the death of his four-year-old daughter where: (a) the girl’s body was covered 
with contusions, lacerations and scars from injuries occurring over time, most 
recently between 24 to 48 hours before her death; (b) the girl suffered internal 
injuries including contusions of the superficial portions of the brain; (c) an 
autopsy revealed injuries to the girl’s vaginal and anal areas; (d) many of the 
girls’ injuries were readily visible; and (e) the girl died as a result of multiple 
internal and external injuries and excessive loss of blood.  The court found 
sufficient evidence to uphold the jury’s decision that the defendant could have 
realized the seriousness of the girl’s condition.   
 

• People v. Northrup, 83 A.D.2d 737 (3d Dep’t 1981):  The court reduced a 
conviction of murder in the second degree to a conviction of criminally negligent 
homicide of a defendant mother who demonstrated a gross deviation from the 
standard of care a reasonable parent would have exercised where: (a) the 
defendant had seen her boyfriend severely beat the boy about the head and limbs 
with a stick, force him to eat his own excrement and punch and slap the boy in the 
chest and face with sufficient force to cause the boy's head to strike a medicine 
cabinet, breaking the glass; (b) the defendant later undressed the boy and noticed 
redness and bruises about his head and body where he had been struck; (c) the 
defendant saw blood in the boy’s urine and observed him frequently retching;    
(d) the defendant failed to obtain or provide medical care or assistance for her 
son; and (e) the autopsy determined that a jabbing blow to the child's abdomen 
had ruptured his small bowel, resulting in toxemia and death.   

 
These cases make clear that the MVPD employees’ conduct in this case was not the type 

of conduct that courts have found to be within the scope of criminally negligent homicide.  In  
contrast to the cases cited above, MVPD employees were generally responsive to Ms. Turner.  
Ms. Turner made one request for medical attention, and MVPD officers promptly took her to the 
MMVH.  After the hospital visit, Ms. Turner vomited or retched several times.14  When MVPD 
employees inquired about Ms. Turner’s condition, Ms. Turner – who had asked for and received 

14 The discussion of the number of instances of vomiting or retching in this report is based upon a review of the 
Video in its entirety.  Constant supervision is only required for arrestees who are at risk for suicide.  Checking in 
every 15 minutes – whether in person or by video – would not have alerted MVPD employees of each time Ms. 
Turner vomited or retched. 
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medical treatment less than 18 hours prior to her death – did not request additional medical 
treatment. 
 

On Monday, July 27, from 11:45 am to 2:11 pm, MVPD employees were present at or 
near Ms. Turner’s cell approximately 10 times; during six of these visits the employees either 
interacted with Ms. Turner directly or looked into her cell.  They also brought her toilet paper 
and food.  Ms. Turner was able to walk unassisted: (a) to and from her PTSI interview and the 
court holding cell; (b) from the court holding cell to cell number 23; and (c) from cell number 23 
to cell number 29.  Ms. Turner also interacted with the PTSI employee, who is independent of 
the MVPD, and the PTSI employee did not observe any serious medical issues.  Finally, when an 
MVPD employee discovered that Ms. Turner was non-responsive, EMS was immediately 
contacted.  Under these circumstances, the OAG does not find a basis to conclude that any 
MVPD employee failed to perceive a substantial and unjustifiable risk that Ms. Turner’s death 
would occur or that any such failure to perceive that risk constituted a gross deviation from 
reasonable care. 

  
For the foregoing reasons, a prosecution for criminally negligent homicide would be 

unsustainable under the facts presented here.  And in light of the determination that no criminal 
negligence took place, manslaughter or more serious charges, which require culpable mental 
states such as “reckless” or “intentional,” are clearly inapplicable. 
 

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

The OAG’s policy recommendations cover two general areas.  First, we recommend that 
policymakers consider means of more swiftly bringing arrestees before arraignment judges for 
consideration of bail and potential release.  Second, we address issues relating to arrestee 
medical care.     
 
A.  Arraignment Considerations 
 

Ms. Turner was not arraigned and therefore remained in custody where she ultimately 
died approximately 48 hours after her arrest.  Ms. Turner was not arraigned because she was 
arrested mid-afternoon on Saturday (July 25, 2015) and the next opportunity for arraignments in 
the City of Mount Vernon was Monday morning (July 27, 2015).  On Monday morning, 
however, Ms. Turner still was not arraigned, because after being brought from her jail cell to the 
court holding cell adjacent to the arraignment court, she indicated that she was not feeling well 
and wished to return to her cell.  
 

Recommendation: Expand the Availability of the Arraignment Court by Electronic or   
Other Means 

 
New York Criminal Procedure Law requires that when a police officer makes a 

warrantless arrest, the arrestee, “without unnecessary delay,” must be brought before a judge and 
charged with an offense in an accusatory instrument, such as a criminal complaint.  Criminal 
Procedure Law § 140.20(1).  The Criminal Procedure Law is silent as to what time period 
constitutes an unnecessary delay, but the Court of Appeals has ruled that pre-arraignment delays 
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in excess of 24 hours are presumptively unreasonable and must be explained.  People ex rel. 
Maxian ex rel. Roundtree v. Brown, 77 N.Y.2d 422, 427 (1991) (citing People ex rel. Maxian v. 
Brown, 164 A.D.2d 56 (1st Dep’t 1990) (“[There is] no reason why the pre-arraignment process 
cannot be completed within 24 hours.”).     

 
In Ms. Turner’s case, pre-arraignment processing was not completed within 24 hours, as 

she was not fingerprinted until approximately 36 hours after her arrest.  But even if she had been 
fingerprinted in a timely manner, the very earliest she could have been arraigned was Monday 
morning (July 27, 2015); Mount Vernon City Court does not convene on Sundays (which is not 
uncommon in courts outside of New York City).  The most obvious means of avoiding 
prolonged pre-arraignment weekend incarceration would be to hold court on Sundays.  To the 
extent that budgetary constraints make that goal impracticable in the short term, we recommend 
that policymakers explore expanding the use of video-facilitated arraignments as an alternative. 
 

Many states, including Florida, New Jersey, and Pennsylvania, have embraced video-
conferencing/closed circuit capabilities for court proceedings, including arraignments.15  In other 
states, court proceedings other than arraignments occur without the requirement that the judge, 
prosecutor, and defendant (with his or her defense attorney) all gather together in a courtroom.  
According to a 2010 survey by the National Center for State Courts, 80% of respondents using 
videoconferencing capabilities reported that the technology “helps to administer justice.”16  In 
Virginia, for instance, the use of videoconferencing has resulted in around-the-clock access to a 
magistrate.17  The states that use videoconferencing for court appearances also report large 
monetary savings.  For example, in the survey referenced above, Pennsylvania officials 
estimated that its taxpayers saved approximately $31 million using video technology.  
 

In contrast, in New York, videoconferencing for court appearances is hardly ever used.  
Less than one half of the 62 counties in the State are legislatively permitted to employ  
videoconferencing.18  Westchester County is one of the 27 counties in New York where, subject 
to certain clearly defined exceptions, a defendant need not appear in person before a judge and 
  

15 Courts have found that court appearances via video comport with due process requirements.  See, e.g., In re Rule 
3.160(a), 528 So.2d 1179,1180 (Fla. 1988) (“[D]ue process does not require the personal presence of a defendant in 
a courtroom before a judge when, through mechanical means, he can see the judge and the judge can see him”); 
State v. Phillips, 74 Ohio St. 3d 72, 95 (Ohio 1995) (“Arraignment of an accused via closed-circuit television is 
constitutionally adequate when the procedure is functionally equivalent to live, in-person arraignment”); 
Commonwealth v. Terebieniec, 408 A. 2d 1120, 1124 (Pa. Super. Ct. 1979) (finding “no unconstitutional prejudice 
inherent in [closed-circuit] arraignments”). 
 
16 See http://www.ncsc.org/Services-and-Experts/Areas-of-expertise/Technology/NCSC-Video-Conferencing-
Survey.aspx. 
 
17 Id. 
 
18 Where the practice is permitted, the arrestee must first consult with his or her attorney and agree to appear via 
video.  See Criminal Procedure Law § 182.20. 
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electronic technology may be used in lieu of in-person appearances.19  The OAG recommends 
that video-facilitated arraignments be considered in Mount Vernon (and in every other 
jurisdiction with legislative authority to proceed in this manner).  In addition, the OAG 
recommends that the Legislature explore expanding this method of court appearance for potential 
implementation statewide.   
 

In making these recommendations, we are conscious of, and draw policymakers’ 
attention to, critiques of arraignments performed via video-conferencing.  See, e.g., Shari 
Seidman Diamond, Locke E. Bowman, Manyee Wong, & Matthew M. Patton, Efficiency and 
Cost: The Impact of Videoconferenced Hearings on Bail Decisions, 100 J. Crim. L. & 
Criminology 3 (2010).  Any prospective policies or legislation should be drafted with focused 
attention toward making the entire process fair and equitable.  For instance, a videotaped 
arraignment policy could include the requirement that if an arraignment occurs by video and the 
defendant remains incarcerated, on the next date that court is in session the defendant may 
appear in person before a judge for a de novo bail review.  The overarching goal must be to 
expedite arraignments without diminishing the rights of arrestees.20 
 

In Ms. Turner’s situation, where she was ill and said that she wished to remain in or near 
her cell, arraignment could have been accomplished via videoconferencing had that technology 
been in use in Mount Vernon.   
 

Recommendation: Increase the Personnel Authorized to Fingerprint Arrestees 
Subsequent to Arrest 

 
The New York State Division of Criminal Justice Services (“DCJS”) receives 

electronically transmitted arrestee fingerprints from law enforcement agencies 24 hours a day, 
seven days a week, 365 days a year.21  DCJS subsequently transmits information back to the law 
enforcement agency confirming arrestee identification, certifying past criminal history, and 
providing warrant information.22  

  

19 See Criminal Procedure Law §182.20 and §182.30.  Pursuant to §182.30, the following limitations apply to 
electronic appearances: 
 

(1) The defendant may not enter a plea of guilty to, or be sentenced upon a conviction of, a felony; 
(2) The defendant may not enter a plea of not responsible by reason of mental disease or defect; 
(3) The defendant may not be committed to the state department of mental hygiene . . . .; 
(4) The defendant may not enter a plea of guilty to a misdemeanor conditioned upon a promise of incarceration unless 

such incarceration will be imposed only in the event that the defendant fails to comply with a term or condition 
imposed under the original sentence; 

(5) A defendant who has been convicted of a misdemeanor may not be sentenced to a period of incarceration which 
exceeds the time the defendant has already served when sentence is imposed. 
 

20 The District Attorney’s Association of the State of New York (“DAASNY”) is in the process of exploring ways 
that district attorneys can appear remotely at court appearances.   
 
21 http://www.criminaljustice.ny.gov/pio/fp_services.htm.  
 
22 See Criminal Procedure Law § 160.30.  
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Due to training-related issues, at the time of Ms. Turner’s incarceration, the MVPD 
authorized a limited number of officers to fingerprint arrestees.  Because of the shortage of 
designated staff, Ms. Turner was not fingerprinted until approximately 36 hours after her arrival 
at the MVPD.23  Accordingly, even if arraignments had occurred on Sunday, July 26, 2015, Ms. 
Turner would not have been arraigned, because in addition to the undrafted accusatory 
instruments, the court would not have had her full criminal and warrant history.  Training more 
officers to take and transmit fingerprints to DCJS would allow more arrestees to be arraignment-
ready sooner.  We addressed this issue with the MVPD, and the agency is in the process of 
expanding its fingerprinting capabilities.  
 

Further, allowing more officers to expeditiously confirm an arrestee’s criminal and 
warrant history could have the effect of allowing more low-level or misdemeanor-level offenders 
to be released on DATs, i.e., desk appearance tickets – either alone or in conjunction with pre-
arraignment bail.24  See generally Criminal Procedure Law §§ 140.20(5), 160.10 (requiring 
fingerprinting prior to the issuance of an appearance ticket where the offense is a felony, a 
misdemeanor set forth in the Penal Law, or a misdemeanor not set forth in the Penal Law if the 
arrestee has a prior judgment of conviction for a crime).  Significantly, the law regarding DATs 
generally is permissive; an officer may, but is not required to, issue the appearance ticket for any 
misdemeanor offense.25   

 
For many officers, the single most significant factor in the decision whether to issue a 

DAT for a misdemeanor is whether the individual has a bench warrant history and is therefore 
likely (or unlikely) to return to court.  Although general criminal history and warrant information 
is available absent a comprehensive DCJS report, the information received from DCJS provides 
the most complete picture of an arrestee’s history.  Further, the DCJS report proves the best 
means of corroborating an arrestee’s identity. 
 

In Ms. Turner’s case, issuance of a DAT by the MVPD was highly unlikely; not only did 
she have a warrant history, but she was arrested for two separate crimes in one day (petit 
larcenies allegedly committed at two separate locations).  However, fingerprinting earlier in the 
process could very well make a difference for other individuals.  For instance, if an arrestee 
charged with low-level misdemeanor offenses was printed earlier in the process and found not to 
have an extensive criminal or warrant history, an officer might choose to issue a DAT and 
release the person from custody in lieu of holding him or her pending arraignment. 
 

23 This 36 hour time frame is in excess of the 24 hour period suggested by the Court of Appeals in Maxian. 
However, the MVPD may have prioritized fingerprinting Ms. Turner had a court been available before which to 
arraign her. 
 
24 See Criminal Procedure Law §§140.20(2)(b), 150.30. 
 
25 See Criminal Procedure Law § 150.20(1).  Pursuant to Criminal Procedure Law § 140.20(3), in misdemeanor 
arrests such as Ms. Turner’s (and most Class E felony arrests), if the police officer is unable to bring the arrested 
person before a court with “reasonable promptness” “owing to unavailability” of the court,” the police officer must 
issue an appearance ticket, either with or without pre-arraignment bail.  “Reasonable promptness” is not defined in 
the statute.  Unlike the phrase “without unnecessary delay” in Criminal Procedure Law § 140.20(1), the Court of 
Appeals has not addressed the meaning of “reasonable promptness” in Section 140.20(3).  
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B.  Medical Considerations 
 

Recommendation: Update Policies to Require In-Person Arrestee Checks  
 

Pursuant to the New York State Minimum Standards, “the condition of prisoners shall be 
checked, by actual visits to cells and detention rooms, at intervals not to exceed 30 minutes.”26  
MVPD officers informed the OAG that they performed many, if not most, of their monitoring 
visits by looking at the cells via closed-circuit television.  While the use of closed-circuit 
television to monitor arrestees is an appropriate adjunct to actual cell visits, it may not be used 
“as a substitute for such visits.”27   

 
The MVPD policies are imprecise as to whether employees are required to perform in-

person cell checks.  MVPD Procedure No. 3.067 (Prisoner Suicide Prevention Screening) 
requires a New York State-certified MVPD Desk Officer to screen each arrestee to identify and 
reduce the risk of suicide.  After the arrestee is screened, he or she is placed into one of three 
levels of supervision: constant, active, or normal.  Pursuant to Procedure No. 3.067, constant 
supervision requires “uninterrupted personal visual observation of prisoners” 24 hours per day.  
(Exhibit C at 8).  An arrestee is placed on constant supervision when he or she is believed to be a 
suicide risk.  Active supervision requires “immediate availability to prisoners” and “supervisory 
visits to be conducted at a minimum of fifteen (15) minute intervals.”  (Exhibit C at 8).  The 
MVPD member must be able to “communicate orally with prisoner[s] and respond [to their 
inquiries].”  (Exhibit C at 9).  Normal supervision requires that the “condition” of a detainee be 
checked “by actual visits to cells at intervals not to exceed thirty (30) minutes.” (emphasis 
added).  (Exhibit C at 9).  However, MVPD Procedure No. 3.067 addresses the screening 
process, not the detention process.   

 
The MVPD procedure outlining detention protocols (Mount Vernon Police Department 

Detention and Transportation Procedures – TC-1 2006 – 02/27/06) simply requires that 
employees “note prisoner activity” every 15 or 30 minutes, without specifying that observations 
of prisoner activity must be based upon actual visits.  (Exhibit C at 2).  Other than requiring a 
“[p]hysical check of cell block” at the start of a member’s tour, the MVPD detention policy does 
not mandate that cell checks entail actual cell visits.  (Exhibit C at 1).  Further, even in Procedure 
No. 3.067, the phrase “actual visits” is only used to describe normal supervision every 30 
minutes (Exhibit C at 8 - 10).    

 
We have addressed this issue with the MVPD and the agency is updating its written 

policies to reflect the state minimum standards.  The MVPD now requires prisoner attendants to 
perform cell checks in-person, within the appropriate periods of time.28   

 

26 9 NYCRR § 7504.1(a) (emphasis added). 
 
27 9 NYCRR § 7504.1(g). 
 
28 The N.Y.S. Commission of Correction is the state agency that oversees local prisons.  We reviewed the COC’s 
on-site visit summaries for the MVPD for the past ten years.  While the NYS COC noted issues concerning the 
accuracy of MVPD Jail Forms, it never cited the MVPD for failure to perform actual cell checks. 
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We note that compliance with the state minimum standards may require funding for 
additional personnel.  On the date of Ms. Turner’s death, one individual (Jail Attendant 
Atkinson) was responsible for the care and well-being of 28 arrestees at the same time.  State and 
local policy makers should consider the need to provide additional funding to assure compliance 
with all applicable state standards.   
 

Recommendation: Re-evaluate New York State Minimum Standards Concerning 
Detainees Who May Need Medical Attention    
       

The New York State Minimum Standards and Regulations for Management of City Jails 
– Town and Village Lockups provide that, “for situations of an emergency nature, the facilities 
of a conveniently located hospital, particularly emergency ward services, shall be utilized.”29  
Further, the National Commission on Correctional Health Care states: “Inmates [shall] have 
access to care to meet their serious medical, dental, and mental health needs.”30  The MVPD 
policy governing Medical Attention to Prisoners is consistent with this standard.  The MVPD 
policy requires that: “Prisoners who are apparently in need of medical . . . care shall promptly 
receive first aid if necessary, and then be transported to the proper treatment facility.”31  (Exhibit 
C at 6). 
 

There is inherent ambiguity in what constitutes a matter “of an emergency nature,” what 
“serious medical . . . needs” are, and how a person “apparently in need of medical . . . care” 
presents himself or herself.   
 

The OAG recommends that the New York State Commission of Correction, in 
conjunction with the Medical Review Board (“MRB”), re-evaluate the minimum standards to 
determine if more specific language would better address when emergency medical care should 
be provided to inmates.  It would be helpful if the phrase “emergency nature” could be 
elucidated so that police departments and law enforcement officers have better guidance as to 
when detainees should be transported to a hospital.  Inasmuch as part of the MRB’s duties is “to 
recommend such changes as it shall deem necessary and proper to improve the quality and 
availability of medical care,”32 this recommendation seems well suited to the Board’s mission.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

29 9 NYCRR § 7503.1(a) (emphasis added). 
 
30 National Commission on Correctional Health Care, Standards for Health Services in Jails § J-A-01 (2014) 
(emphasis added). 
 
31 Mount Vernon Police Department Operational Procedures – PRISONERS – MEDICAL ATTENTION, Procedure 
No. 3.064 Revised 1/4/93, (Exhibit C).  
 
32 Correction Law §47(1)(e). 
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CONCLUSION 
 

For the reasons stated above, we find that a homicide prosecution could not properly be 
sustained under the facts of this case.  There is no basis to conclude that any MVPD employee 
failed to perceive a substantial and unjustifiable risk that Ms. Turner’s death would occur or that 
any such failure to perceive that risk constituted a gross deviation from reasonable care.  The 
OAG has recommended, and the MVPD has taken steps or has agreed to: (1) ensure that MVPD 
employees perform required cell visits in person and update MVPD’s policies to reflect that in-
person visits are required; (2) take administrative action relating to Prisoner Attendant Atkinson; 
and (3) expand the MVPD’s fingerprinting capabilities.  Finally, the OAG calls upon:  
(a) policymakers to address means of more swiftly bringing arrestees before arraignment judges 
for consideration of bail and possible release; (b) the COC, in conjunction with the Medical 
Review Board, to reevaluate the minimum standards and determine if more specific language 
would better address when emergency medical care should be provided to arrestees; and  
(c) policymakers to address the need to provide funding for the staffing required to ensure 
compliance with state regulations concerning the care of arrestees. 
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